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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The reporter from

          3  New York 1 asked me about the cellphone, he said

          4  "well, I don't have to worry about it in here." And

          5  I said, "well, if the Council Chamber isn't a

          6  performance place, I don't know what is," so this

          7  has been incorporated into that, Donald, so you

          8  remember that.

          9                 I'm Council Member Reed. I'm the

         10  Chair of Consumer Affairs Committee, and we are

         11  joined today by members of this Committee, Oliver

         12  Koppell from the Bronx and Charles Barron from

         13  Brooklyn, and we're going to be joined by other of

         14  my colleagues. As most of you know from reading the

         15  paper, we are in the middle of trying to respond to

         16  the budget, the budget modification that the Mayor

         17  has proposed, and a lot of the delegations are still

         18  in meetings and discussing this very important

         19  issue.

         20                 So, if you see people coming in and

         21  out, that's what that is about, and I apologize that

         22  if anybody feels like we don't have a full quorum,

         23  we will shortly.

         24                 I didn't want to keep people who had

         25  come to testify about Intro. 301, a local law to
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          2  amend the Administrative Code of the City of New

          3  York in relation to requiring retail merchants to

          4  post a list of clothing and footwear items exempt

          5  from New York State and City sales tax.

          6                 As a background I should explain that

          7  clothing and footwear that costs less than $110 an

          8  item is exempt from the 8.25 percent City and State

          9  sales tax. This has been the case since March of

         10  2000, when both the City Council and the State

         11  Legislature passed necessary enabling legislation.

         12                 However, retail vendors continue to

         13  levy, some vendors continue to levy the nonexistent

         14  tax on unsuspecting consumers.

         15                 Since the Summer of 2000, the

         16  Council's Investigative branch has performed four

         17  audits of stores around the City. It has

         18  consistently found that at least a third of the

         19  stores charged sales tax on exempt items.

         20                 The most recent investigation was

         21  conducted under the direction of Council Member Eric

         22  Gioia, who is Chair of the Oversight and

         23  Investigations Committee, and was completed in

         24  September of this year.

         25                 It found that 34 percent of the
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          2  stores surveyed assessed sales tax improperly. We

          3  don't know frankly if this is due to a lack of

          4  information on the retailer's part or whether some

          5  merchants are acting intentionally. This is one of

          6  the questions we hope to explore today.

          7                 As I'm sure we all understand, this

          8  is a significant problem to consumers and the City.

          9  Individuals and families often need financial

         10  incentives, like tax exemptions, and the City needs

         11  increased consumerism to boost revenues. This is

         12  especially true in our current economic climate.

         13                 In prior years the Council has held

         14  roundtable discussions and hearings on this matter,

         15  but we obviously haven't solved the problem

         16  entirely.

         17                 Intro. 301 is a step in that

         18  direction. It would require retail merchants to post

         19  a list of tax exempt clothing and footwear items at

         20  the register.

         21                 This list would better inform both

         22  retail employees and retail consumers, and

         23  ultimately eliminate the improper assessments of

         24  sales taxes.

         25                 We look forward to hearing from the
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          2  Administration, retailers and consumer advocates

          3  today, and I'm sure we could work together to

          4  improve the situation.

          5                 We are going to hear from the

          6  Administration, and since my Council has just left

          7  me here all alone, our counsel is Deborah Brown, who

          8  will never leave this post again.

          9                 Andy, are you here on behalf of the

         10  Administration? Andrew Eiler and Michael Hyman; is

         11  that right?

         12                 Okay, thank you. Please identify

         13  yourselves for the record.

         14                 MR. EILER: My name is Andrew Eiler.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Michael

         16  Hyman with the New York City Department of Finance.

         17                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS: Can you turn your

         18  microphone on?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, you can when

         20  you begin your testimony.

         21                 MR. EILER: Good afternoon, Chairman

         22  Reed and members of the Consumer Affairs Committee.

         23  I'm Andrew Eiler, Chief Research Analyst for the

         24  Department of Consumer Affairs, and Commissioner

         25  Dykstra asked me to express her regrets that she was
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          2  unable to be here and thank you for this opportunity

          3  to testify on Intro. 301, which requires the posting

          4  of signs listing all exempt clothing, footwear and

          5  items used to make or repair such clothing.

          6                 The bill would add to the

          7  Administrative Code a new subchapter 12 posting of a

          8  list of clothing and footwear items exempt from

          9  sales tax.

         10                 The provisions of this subchapter

         11  require that the list of exempt items be posted

         12  adjacent to or at any counter in a store that sells

         13  exempt clothing items. The sign would be required to

         14  include the items on the most current list of exempt

         15  items issued by the New York State Department of

         16  Taxation.

         17                 The bill would impose a range of

         18  penalties for violations starting with a civil

         19  penalty of not less than $250 or more than 500 for

         20  the first violation, and not less than 500 or more

         21  than 700 for any subsequent violation.

         22                 Finally, the bill would authorize the

         23  Department of Consumer Affairs in consultation with

         24  the Commissioner of Finance to promulgate such

         25  regulations as may be needed to implement the sign
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          2  posting requirement.

          3                 The latest findings of the Oversight

          4  and Investigations Committee that 17 of 50 stores,

          5  34 percent, still charge tax on at least one of four

          6  items surveyed children need for such public

          7  education.

          8                 These findings, however, are also the

          9  source of encouraging news. When the Council staff

         10  first conducted this survey during the summer of

         11  2000, they found that 24 of 50 stores surveyed or 48

         12  percent charged the tax on at least one exempt item

         13  tested.

         14                 These stores charge tax on 35 of 82

         15  exempt items that were checked.

         16                 And the most recent survey conducted

         17  in September 2002 found that only 34 percent of the

         18  retailers checked improperly assessed tax on exempt

         19  items.

         20                 This number is still high but the

         21  signs of progress are unmistakable the Council's

         22  survey findings undoubtedly contributed to this

         23  progress. We believe that DCA's monitoring and

         24  citing stores for consumer protection law violations

         25  when found to be charging tax on exempt items also
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          2  significantly contributed to the progress we have

          3  found.

          4                 We agree that more needs to be done

          5  to ensure that consumers are not charged tax on

          6  exempt items.

          7                 We however, have reservations where

          8  the proposed sign posting requirement is a desirable

          9  or even practicable way to achieve the results we

         10  seek.

         11                 I have an example of the kind of sign

         12  that this bill would be requiring. It includes the

         13  items on the State taxation Finance Department's

         14  most current list. Conspicuously posting such a

         15  readable sign adjacent to or at every counter where

         16  such goods are sold would clearly mar the appearance

         17  of every display arrangement in a store.

         18                 The proposed signs would also have to

         19  be posted in every store that sold clothing items,

         20  which would include many more types of retailers

         21  than just clothing stores, such as pharmacies,

         22  supermarkets, laundries, dry cleaners that repair

         23  clothing, other types of shoe repair shops or

         24  tailors, and many types of department and general

         25  merchandise stores.
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          2                 Since the posting requirement could

          3  apply to many types of retailers, it would also add

          4  yet another signage requirement to those already

          5  required by law, such as the Bottle Bill of Rights,

          6  a store's refund policy, and the disclosures for

          7  gray market goods that could apply to the same

          8  retailer. Such a patchwork of signs obscures rather

          9  than illuminates the message.

         10                 While we agree with the need for

         11  educating both public and retailers about sales tax

         12  exemption for clothing to ensure that consumers are

         13  not improperly taxed, we would urge a search for

         14  alternative ways to accomplish the public education

         15  objectives of the bill.

         16                 One alternative would be requiring

         17  stores to make available to shoppers a list of

         18  exempt items in palm cards. Consumers could refer to

         19  this handout if they had a question about whether an

         20  item was taxable. A retailer selling clothing could

         21  be required to post a small sign at registers

         22  informing consumers that clothing items under $110

         23  are exempt, and that a list of such items is

         24  available to be checked if there is a question

         25  whether an item is exempt. Such a sign would both
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          2  call attention to the tax exemption and provide a

          3  means for immediately resolving issues that might

          4  arise about whether an item is exempt from sales

          5  tax.

          6                 DC would be pleased to work with you

          7  in designing an alternative to the present Intro.

          8  301 that would implement our common objectives of

          9  educating consumers about the clothing tax

         10  exemption.

         11                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         12  testify about Intro. 301, and I would be glad to

         13  answer any questions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         15                 Mr. Hyman.

         16                 MR. HYMAN: Good afternoon, Chairman

         17  Reed, and Members of the Committee. My name is

         18  Michael Hyman, Assistant Commissioner for Tax Policy

         19  at the New York City Department of Finance. Here

         20  with me today are Lindsay Easin, the Sheriff of the

         21  City of New York, and Bruce Cotto, Assistant

         22  Commissioner of Audit and Enforcement.

         23                 Thank you for inviting me to testify

         24  today on Intro. 301 on behalf of Finance

         25  Commissioner Martha E. Stark.
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          2                 Let me start by saying Commissioner

          3  Stark and Mayor Bloomberg share this Committee's

          4  desire to increase public awareness of tax

          5  exemptions on clothing.

          6                 State Exemption Law, which went into

          7  effect on March 1st, 2000, was intended to make

          8  clothing purchases more affordable for all New

          9  Yorkers and to boost sales at retail stores.

         10                 Two years later the fiscal crisis had

         11  made the clothing exemption more important than

         12  ever, both for consumers and retailers.

         13                 For this reason, it is imperative

         14  that New York City does all it can to make people

         15  aware of the law.

         16                 Although we share the goals of Intro.

         17  301, Finance does not believe that this proposal is

         18  the best way to achieve greater awareness of the

         19  clothing exemption.

         20                 Retailers would have difficulty

         21  adhering to the cumbersome signage rules described

         22  in this proposal, and Finance would have difficulty

         23  enforcing these rules without diverting scarce

         24  resources from other enforcement areas, including

         25  the growing threat of cigarette tax evasion.
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          2                 Aside from these obstacles however,

          3  Finance believes that focusing on outreach and

          4  public education is the most effective way to get

          5  more New Yorkers, both consumers and retailers, to

          6  benefit from the clothing exemption.

          7                 Enforcement is one tool for raising

          8  public awareness, and enforcement is certainly

          9  needed to safeguard the rights of consumers who

         10  already know about the law and to make sure

         11  retailers obey the law and pass on the appropriate

         12  amount of revenues to the City.

         13                 But enforcement should not supersede

         14  measures to encourage voluntary compliance, which is

         15  the first goal of any tax.

         16                 Because the state administers the

         17  sales tax on our behalf, as you know, the State

         18  Department of Taxation and Finance has taken the

         19  lead on publicizing the clothing exemption. State

         20  tax has done mass mailing to vendors and I

         21  understand that it plans to do another such mailing

         22  in February 2003.

         23                 State tax has also sent tax to

         24  non-compliance retailers identified in your report,

         25  so that more of them comply with the law.
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          2                 However, the State's action should

          3  not preclude the Finance Department from working

          4  aggressively to do its own outreach, both with other

          5  agencies such as the Department of Consumer Affairs

          6  and the Department of Business Services, as well as

          7  the City Council.

          8                 Here are some of our ideas, of course

          9  we're always open to other suggestions from you.

         10                 Working with State tax, Finance can

         11  post an all inclusive list of exempt items, or at

         12  least 500, on our website.

         13                 We can let people know about the

         14  exemption by mentioning it in our mailings.

         15                 Instead of producing cumbersome signs

         16  with tiny print, Finance could work with the Council

         17  on State tax to produce an easy to read booklet that

         18  retailers could advertise at the counters, and make

         19  available upon request.

         20                 With your help we can produce palm

         21  cards that people could carry with them as they

         22  shop, and we can take advantage of Crosswalks to

         23  advertise the exemption or produce public service

         24  announcements.

         25                 Even as we step up our outreach
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          2  efforts in conjunction with other agencies and the

          3  City Council, we can do some spotcheck enforcement

          4  with state tax, particularly of small retailers.

          5                 It appears that most large vendors

          6  comply with the law for two reasons:

          7                 One, they tend to have cash registers

          8  that are preprogrammed to not change sales tax --

          9  not charge sales tax on certain items; and two, they

         10  tend to remit tax information indication that they

         11  are aware of the clothing exemption law.

         12                 In fact, State tax will soon release

         13  data indicating that the amount of revenue foregone

         14  by the City in lost taxes has been close to what was

         15  predicted back in 2000 when the law was passed.

         16                 This indicates that the level of

         17  compliance has been about what we thought it would

         18  be.

         19                 All of which is not to say that

         20  compliance cannot be improved, as your report has

         21  made quite clear. It can be improved and

         22  Commissioner Stark is committed to that goal.

         23                 The best way to do that, we believe,

         24  is to conduct a public education campaign to let New

         25  Yorkers know about the clothing exemption and how it
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          2  works.

          3                 We look forward to working with you

          4  and your colleagues to make it happen.

          5                 Thank you. We would be happy to take

          6  any questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 Some of us are trying to talk and

         10  listen to you at the same time. Part of the concerns

         11  that I have, and I think it's sort of ironic in this

         12  context of this budget that even though it's against

         13  the law to charge the sales tax, at least we're

         14  taking in some revenues. So, you know, perhaps we

         15  shouldn't be but we're looking for every nickel we

         16  could get, so just in the context of what I've been

         17  doing all morning long.

         18                 Do you know what percentage or have

         19  an idea of what percentage of the retail stores have

         20  the kind of cash registers that once you scan, they

         21  automatically know that this is a nontaxable item?

         22                 We're trying to figure out, and I

         23  presume with the scanning device, it automatically

         24  comes up as nontaxable, correct?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Yes,
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          2  some stores have computers that are preprogrammed

          3  for which items are exempt when they're scanned,

          4  correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, therefore, most

          6  of this is then really about the stores that either

          7  don't have programs or don't have that operation,

          8  it's more of a mom and pop style situation?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: I think

         10  that's part of it, but I guess the other part of it

         11  is that we should make fully aware that all

         12  retailers are knowledgeable about what items are

         13  exempt. I mean, there's a possibility there could be

         14  some misprogramming. So I think the State is trying

         15  to improve its outreach to retailers to make sure

         16  they're fully aware of precisely the items that are

         17  taxable and not taxable.

         18                 But I think you're right, I think the

         19  more common mistakes are people who do this manually

         20  and may not have the information readily available.

         21  You know, I think most of the mistakes are honest,

         22  they could just be mistakes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: What is the

         24  Department of Consumer Affairs doing about this

         25  issue?
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          2                 MR. EILER: Well, when our inspectors

          3  go into, like, for example, pharmacies or stores

          4  where they make checks for scanner accuracy and

          5  stuff like that, under the item pricing law, and

          6  they run items through the check, if a sales tax is

          7  charged on exempt items, we write a violation under

          8  the Consumer Protection Law, which is a deceptive

          9  practice, that a retailer is charging a tax when

         10  it's not supposed to be. That's a violation, that's

         11  written.

         12                 So we do do some enforcement in that

         13  area.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: But to your

         15  knowledge, the City is not doing any public service

         16  announcements, PSAs, reminding people of the fact

         17  that these items are exempt, and I've looked at, we

         18  have a whole host of things, which I don't need to

         19  bring them all up to date, but a lot of this, you

         20  would at first glance, not think of it as clothing.

         21  I think that may be what some of the concerns are.

         22  So, whether it's shoe laces or these gloves, for

         23  instance, I don't think people necessarily realize

         24  that this is in fact, these items are exempt. It's

         25  what makes this list so long, I think.
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          2                 But have you done any PSA's? Is there

          3  any discussion about that?

          4                 MR. EILER: I am not aware. I don't

          5  think that we have done any direct program to do

          6  that.

          7                 I think it's certainly something that

          8  we could consider in terms of what we could put on

          9  our websites, what information or ways to get the

         10  information out to people. But I'm not aware of

         11  anything that has happened.

         12                 MR. HYMAN: I believe the Finance

         13  website does have a link to all the state documents

         14  that provide this kind of listing, but I think I

         15  agree with your general point, that public awareness

         16  needs to be improved, and we come up with ways to

         17  make that happen.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes, if you're

         19  saying to me that, you know, you can go on a

         20  government website, and then start looking through

         21  linkages up to it, you've got to be a pretty

         22  discerning shopper before you go out to say, okay,

         23  let me go through all of this.

         24                 MR. HYMAN: Oh, I agree.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And some people
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          2  have got to go to the library, which is to find, to

          3  get a computer, so sounds like we haven't really let

          4  people know about this issue.

          5                 Council Member Barron.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, I'm

          7  trying to find out what's the opposition, what's

          8  real opposition to this, because it seems like palm

          9  cards, booklets, mailings, posting a list on the

         10  website, couldn't possibly be more effective than

         11  actually having the listing right there at the cash

         12  register so that the retailer and the customer can

         13  both be educated as to what is taxable, what isn't

         14  taxable, and it would be right there. You wouldn't

         15  want to rely on someone bringing in a palm card, or

         16  remembering what they read in a booklet or carried

         17  the booklet around or remember what's listed on the

         18  website. So, you really think that these measures

         19  are more effective than actually having it listed?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Well,

         21  speaking for the Department of Finance, I think part

         22  of our effort is to strike a balance between, you

         23  know, what's practical from the retailer's point of

         24  view, but making the information readily available

         25  for consumers.
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          2                 One suggestion we did have was that

          3  retailers should have available for consumers the

          4  listing at their request, and that consumers should

          5  be advised to some general sign in the store that

          6  they can ask either at a central location or at

          7  various points of sale, for a listing of items that

          8  are exempt or taxable. So the reference is there. I

          9  guess the issue for us is more the kind of

         10  regulatory burden of requiring the signage at every

         11  point of sale and then the practical issues in

         12  enforcement of that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Okay,

         14  measuring the regulatory responsibilities and

         15  enforcement responsibilities to accurate taxation,

         16  how would you weigh that?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: I also

         18  think State tax and Finance could be brought into

         19  the equation. I mean, I think they do receive a lot

         20  of contact by consumers, when consumers feel that

         21  they aren't receiving fair treatment or they're

         22  being taxed for an exempt item so the State tax and

         23  Finance can be brought in on making sure retailers

         24  comply fully with the law.

         25                 Also, it's basically, the key thing
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          2  is the public education, that consumers have readily

          3  available information. Some of it I think could be

          4  more useful, having it measured beforehand before

          5  they go shopping, but also at the stores there

          6  should be some more direct way they can access

          7  listing exemptions. I guess the issue comes out is

          8  it really a practical way to have the sign posted at

          9  every point of sale, and whether or not that just

         10  can create, or we can get most of the objectives

         11  accomplished through other methods.

         12                 MR. EILER: Well, if I could add, I

         13  mean, we're looking at the question of practicality

         14  and function, the combination, and if you take a

         15  look at even your survey findings, 64 percent of the

         16  stores complied, so that, you know, having this

         17  large -- but every store would have to post all

         18  these signs at every counter, so the question of

         19  whether or not it's practical to require it in every

         20  situation, and the function is that consumers should

         21  be able to have some basis for looking at and

         22  figuring out whether or not when they're charged

         23  something, the tax is due. And the notice to say,

         24  look, we had the list of exempt items, if you have

         25  any question that you shouldn't be paying tax, then
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          2  ask for the list and then let's check it. Let's make

          3  a determination right then and there, which then

          4  brings up -- in other words, that's need driven. If

          5  a consumer wants that information when he needs it

          6  for some decision, whereas this kind of a sign is up

          7  there forever when nobody really needs it, because

          8  the store is already not charging a tax. So, that's

          9  why we're looking at the combination of ways to

         10  address the information education issue.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Oh, I'm all

         12  right with the combination of ways, but it just

         13  seems to me that if the sign is up there, the

         14  retailer is becoming more and more familiar with the

         15  items that should be taxed and those that should not

         16  be taxed.

         17                 It would be easy, I think for both

         18  the retailer, and the consumer, because very few

         19  consumers are going to gather these items up and

         20  say, oh, did I have a non-taxable one, a taxable,

         21  they're just going to gather them things up, get to

         22  that counter, and want to get out of there and move

         23  on, especially in New York, everybody is rushing. It

         24  would seem to me that this would be more convenient

         25  to have it up there and the retailer be more
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          2  cognizant of it and assist a consumer in making sure

          3  they're not taxed unnecessarily. But thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: At the moment the

          6  retailers are not obliged to have the list anywhere

          7  in the store?

          8                 MR. EILER: No. There's no requirement

          9  that they make it available, or have it available.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Because I think

         11  some of the issue is probably just from error on the

         12  part of the cashier. Sometimes it's all the same

         13  person.

         14                 But I think one of the things that I

         15  think Council Member Barron was getting to is,

         16  frankly, people don't go into the store with that on

         17  their mind. I'm not necessarily a typical shopper,

         18  but it doesn't -- you know, I don't go into a

         19  clothing store or places where we're purchasing some

         20  of these things. I've asked the Council to sort of

         21  highlight things that, you know, these shoe inserts.

         22  Now, I would not think this was tax exempt. Just

         23  wouldn't, you know, but it's tax exempt, as a

         24  headband. And a lot of these clerks change over, so

         25  they don't know.
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          2                 So, if we put this in place and the

          3  stores themselves don't, irrespective of whether we

          4  post it on the wall or next to the cash register,

          5  how is it that the store is supposed to know what is

          6  and is not tax exempt. And so, if there's an issue,

          7  if Councilman Barron comes in my store, that we're

          8  going to have a debate over, you know, he says this

          9  is tax exempt, and there's no list in the store, how

         10  do we resolve that? I say it is, he says it isn't.

         11                 MR. HYMAN: Well, the State does send

         12  to every vendor information, but of course it

         13  doesn't necessarily mean the vendors pay close

         14  attention to everything. I think there needs to be

         15  more public education, the City can be involved with

         16  state tax and finance should also be involved since

         17  they administer the City sales tax to make sure the

         18  retail community, and it may be more the smaller

         19  merchants, are fully aware of the obligations and of

         20  the specific listings, and we do think it would be a

         21  good recommendation to make sure that stores do have

         22  these lists readily available.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So you would

         24  support the idea that the stores have some mandate

         25  to have the list somewhere?

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 MR. HYMAN: I think we think it's a

          3  good idea that consumers should have a right to ask

          4  a store for a list at a point of sale or in the

          5  store in general, and have some reference material

          6  so they know legally what their rights are.

          7                 MR. EILER: I mean, aside from saying

          8  something, clothing or whatever items under $110 are

          9  tax exempt, if you have any questions about

         10  charging, ask. And that's kind of like both tells

         11  you, yes, the law says it's exempt. If you have any

         12  question about whether you're being properly

         13  charged, there's a way to figure that out. And then

         14  people can see when the items are being rung up

         15  whether or not a tax is being added to the item, for

         16  the items or not.

         17                 So that would trigger some kind of

         18  concern, am I being charged, am I not being charged.

         19  I mean, this is a way of getting at the level of the

         20  information where it might be, one, you trigger,

         21  yes, you shouldn't be taxed, then check if you are,

         22  and at that point you have a means of deciding

         23  whether or not it's being done properly.

         24                 I mean, that's a way of gauging the

         25  consumer at the point of sale in an effective way.
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          2  Without putting up a lot of stuff that may not

          3  really hit people.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Do we have any idea

          5  what happens with the money that's collected

          6  properly?

          7                 I mean, I guess if somebody doesn't

          8  report it, it goes into the City and the State

          9  coffers, yes?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: I think

         11  if it's an honest mistake probably the retailers

         12  just remit it to the State and the City gets its

         13  share of the revenues.

         14                 I know as part of its audit process

         15  the State would look into this issue with retailers,

         16  and retailers are required to report the exempt

         17  sales, as well as the taxable sales, so this is

         18  looked at somewhat. But I think if it's just a

         19  mistake by the retailer and it's not an intentional

         20  effort to fraud, to fraud the consumer, they

         21  probably would just remit the money and it could

         22  come to the City.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 We have been joined here by two other
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          2  members of the Committee, Council Member Liu from

          3  Queens and Council Member Addabbo also from Queens.

          4  And we are waiting for Council Member Koppell to

          5  return, which I understand he's going to do in a few

          6  minutes, so we can -- there he is -- so we can take

          7  a vote.

          8                 So I thank both of you for coming to

          9  testify today. And while we are preparing for the

         10  next panel, which I believe is Patricia Brodhagen,

         11  Donald Halperin. I guess we can have them all at the

         12  same time. Edward J. Goldberg, and Ted Potrikus.

         13                 What I'd like to do while they are

         14  preparing, because I know many of us are trying to

         15  move in a lot of different directions, is to, for

         16  the moment, call the question on the other bill, and

         17  as soon as I get myself organized here.

         18                 The second item on our Consumer

         19  Affairs' agenda today was a vote on what is known as

         20  the "cellphone bill." We have had two hearings on

         21  this bill, and it has received a considerable amount

         22  of attention in the media.

         23                 We have received testimony from the

         24  theater owners, actors, musicians, ushers,

         25  producers, community representatives and the
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          2  cellphone industry. With their input we've been able

          3  to refine the legislation to effectively curtail the

          4  use of mobile phones during performances.

          5                 One of the questions that was asked

          6  by a colleague of mine, I wanted to remind people

          7  because I thought it was an important piece, is that

          8  this prohibition is for just the performance space

          9  within the theater, not the entire theater, and only

         10  during the performance.

         11                 So, it does permit people to use them

         12  in the lobby and in concession areas and in other

         13  arenas.

         14                 I must say that I have not ever

         15  received so much positive commentary about a bill

         16  that was introduced in the City Council. I have not

         17  received probably 150 e-mails and letters and phone

         18  calls and a certain amount of publicity. I have not

         19  had one person tell me this was a bad idea. Not one

         20  person to say to me that this is a bad idea, and in

         21  the legislative process there's usually at least one

         22  naysayer out there in the world. So, other than the

         23  Administration's concern about their resources to

         24  enforce this bill, we have not heard any criticism

         25  about it, and I, as the Chair of the Committee, and
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          2  certainly as the author of this legislation would

          3  respectfully urge my colleagues to vote aye on this

          4  measure.

          5                 And, so, having said that, I will ask

          6  that we hear the roll and take a vote on 257-A.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Barron.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Mr. Chairman,

         13  may I explain my vote?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Please.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I had some

         16  initial concerns about this bill, because a lot of

         17  black and Latino youth are in the theaters and I had

         18  enforcement concerns, that I was concerned that I

         19  wouldn't want a manager to try to enforce this, and

         20  nor would I want any law enforcement to get

         21  involved.

         22                 I went to some young people in my

         23  East New York District and I said what do you all

         24  think about this cellphone idea? And they, I thought

         25  in a very reasonable way said, if you can find a way
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          2  to say that they should keep it on the vibrator, and

          3  then can go in another part of the theater, then

          4  Councilman Barron, we think you should vote for that

          5  bill.

          6                 And they even said that there are a

          7  lot of conflicts that occurred because they almost

          8  got into altercations with people that were telling

          9  others to shut up and turn off the cellphone and be

         10  quiet during the performance.

         11                 So, that had a lot to do with me

         12  rethinking the bill and plus a lot of your

         13  convincing arguments, so I am very, very comfortable

         14  now in voting aye on this legislation, and I think

         15  it would create a more peaceful time for people to

         16  enjoy the very few moments sometimes if they get out

         17  to have some relaxation. And I vote aye on this

         18  measure.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I vote aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Liu.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Mr. Chair, may I

         23  be excused to explain my vote?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chair. I do commend your efforts and the efforts of

          3  this Committee to enact this legislation that I

          4  think is thoughtful and will help an important

          5  quality of life issue that I think many New Yorkers

          6  suffer from.

          7                 At the same time I think that there

          8  are numerous examples of what I think are common

          9  courtesies that all New Yorkers should be extending

         10  to their fellow New Yorkers and their community, and

         11  while I think that we can address some of these

         12  issues through legislation, that I wouldn't want to

         13  send a message to our fellow citizens in this City

         14  that if there's no law against it, that therefore it

         15  might be okay to do it.

         16                 I think that just talking whether on

         17  a cellphone or to the person sitting next to you or

         18  making noise in any other respect during a public

         19  performance is a nuisance to your fellow concert or

         20  performance-goers, and I think that that should be

         21  avoided, so I think that while the purpose of this

         22  bill is laudable, I do think that it's not

         23  necessarily an item that we need to legislate on,

         24  and, so, for those reasons, Mr. Chair, I

         25  respectfully vote no on this bill.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of four in

          5  the affirmative, zero in the negative -- excuse me.

          6  By a vote of four in the affirmative, one in the

          7  negative and no abstentions, the item is adopted.

          8  The vote will remain open.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 I want to go back to where we were in

         12  the discussion of the tax, and we have asked these

         13  four distinguished people to -- at least three of

         14  them, to come, or they have asked to come and

         15  testify. Thank you, Council Member Addabbo.

         16                 So, I don't know what particular

         17  order, you can self-select that. Please introduce

         18  yourselves and let's hear what you have to say.

         19                 MR. HALPERIN: We're not going to ask

         20  which one of the four is not distinguished. But good

         21  afternoon. Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, and members

         22  of the Committee. I'm Don Halperin, and I'm here

         23  today testifying on behalf of the New York

         24  Metropolitan Retail Association, known as NYMRA,

         25  which is a trade group representing major national
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          2  retail trains that operate within the City of New

          3  York.

          4                 Our membership includes, among

          5  others, Circuit City, Federated Department Stores,

          6  better known to most people as Macy's and

          7  Bloomingdales, the Gap, Home Depot, JC Penny's,

          8  K-Mart, May Department Stores, Sears and Walgreens.

          9                 Also, here with me this afternoon is

         10  Mr. Ed Goldberg, immediately to my left, who is

         11  Chairman of NYMRA.

         12                 NYMRA appreciates the effort of the

         13  City Council members and the staff who have

         14  researched and sought to address the issue of

         15  improper imposition of sales taxation on clothing

         16  items.

         17                 While we recognize that some

         18  interesting facts and statistics were highlighted by

         19  the report, we would like to put these into

         20  perspective and raise serious objections to the

         21  approach, to the solution taken in Council Bill No.

         22  301.

         23                 Let me begin by saying that whatever

         24  problems may exist does not arise from the intention

         25  misdeeds of retailers. Mistakes identified in the
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          2  report do not result in additional monies going into

          3  the coffers of retailers, but rather, as you pointed

          4  out before, to the City and to the State.

          5                 These mistakes arise not so much

          6  across the board, but in those areas where there is

          7  confusion, as to which items may or may not be

          8  taxable.

          9                 Indeed when mistakes are brought to

         10  the attention of most retailers, they are usually

         11  remedied quickly and resolved in the consumer's

         12  favor.

         13                 We also wish to put into perspective

         14  the incidents of such mistakes. The investigation

         15  conducted by the Council Investigation Division

         16  surveyed 50 stores and discovered that 17 stores or

         17  34 percent, assess sales tax on at least one tax

         18  exempt item.

         19                 This number should not be

         20  misconstrued by those who did not carefully read the

         21  report, as I'm sure you did, Mr. Chairman, which

         22  pointed out that only 22 percent of these items were

         23  not the subject of the study were improperly taxed.

         24                 But these items are not

         25  representative of all the items sold. They were
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          2  chosen because they fall into a questionable

          3  category and tend to lead to confusion.

          4                 If one were to look at all of the

          5  items sold, the incidence of incorrect imposition of

          6  sales tax, would be a mere fraction of the 22

          7  percent ascertained in the report.

          8                 To the extent that there is a

          9  problem, NYMRA believes that the solution proposed

         10  is overreaching and in some ways counterproductive

         11  to its intended result.

         12                 Needless to say, consumers are

         13  confronted by numerous situations where greater

         14  knowledge would be helpful.

         15                 It is clearly not possible to post

         16  signs around registers that alert consumers to all

         17  potential issues, and it would serve no purpose if

         18  consumers were inundated with so much information

         19  that they could absorb none.

         20                 NYMRA believes that even today most

         21  postings are, in many cases, unfortunately, ignored

         22  by consumers, and did not serve their intended

         23  purpose.

         24                 By adding to the number of these

         25  postings, we would diminish the impact of any one of
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          2  them.

          3                 In particular, if one were to post

          4  the 8 and a half by 11 inch list of exempt items

          5  contained in the report, it would be impossible for

          6  most people to read its contents unless this posting

          7  was in a foot or so of the reader, otherwise the

          8  print would be too small for most people to read.

          9                 To make these signs viable or

         10  conspicuous as required by the legislation, one

         11  would probably have to increase the size of the

         12  print by perhaps three-fold.

         13                 We would then end up with the poster

         14  nearly three feet high by over two feet wide, and I

         15  thank the Department of Consumer Affairs for taking

         16  what I just said to the next step and showing you

         17  what an actual poster would look like, and they ask

         18  me to make clear that we did not discuss this issue

         19  ahead of time. That was their independent conclusion

         20  that they arrived at.

         21                 For in the case of federated

         22  department stores, for instance, signs would not be

         23  posted throughout their stores at every register,

         24  and keep in mind that in a traditional department

         25  store setting, you can go to any register in the
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          2  store to pay for anything, even though many of those

          3  registers hardly deal with clothing.

          4                 Such a proliferation of signs would

          5  be obtrusive and costly.

          6                 Moreover, every time these lists were

          7  updated, all these signs would have to be replaced.

          8                 While NYMRA respects the concerns of

          9  the sponsors of this legislation, and their desire

         10  to protect innocent consumers, we believe there is a

         11  much more cost effective way of dealing with the

         12  problem.

         13                 It is our experience that most

         14  consumers will not have need of these lists for the

         15  purchase of most items.

         16                 Those that are concerned should,

         17  however, have a way of ascertaining whether or not

         18  an item is taxable, and you just discussed that.

         19                 We therefore suggest that all retail

         20  establishments be required to maintain a list of tax

         21  exempt items that will reasonably be available to

         22  consumer upon request.

         23                 In this way, consumers who wish to

         24  determine whether they are being correctly charged,

         25  taxed on an item, will be able to have access to the
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          2  necessary information without intruding upon the

          3  vast majority of other consumers and adding

          4  unnecessary cost to doing business in New York City.

          5                 We hold ourselves available to the

          6  City Council to develop an approach along these

          7  lines.

          8                 Thank you for your attention.

          9                 MR. POTRIKUS: Good afternoon, Mr.

         10  Chairman, members of the Council. My name is Ted

         11  Potrikus. I'm Senior Vice President, Director of

         12  Government Relations for the Retail Council of New

         13  York State. We are headquartered in Albany and

         14  represent the interests of some 5,000 member stores,

         15  large and small, before the state government.

         16                 I appreciate your invitation and the

         17  opportunity to be here this afternoon on behalf of

         18  the Council and our members in New York City and

         19  throughout the State to provide a statewide

         20  perspective to today's discussion and amplify a very

         21  basic and essential point, retailers do not benefit

         22  financially from incorrectly charging sales tax on

         23  an exempt item of merchandise.

         24                 All sales tax proceeds are

         25  transmitted directly to the State and local
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          2  governments of New York.

          3                 It's safe for us to guarantee that if

          4  storefront retailers had their way, there would be

          5  no sales tax on any item sold in New York City or

          6  anywhere else in the State.

          7                 The collecting and remitting of sales

          8  tax is time consuming, expensive, inconvenient and

          9  reduces consumer-buying power.

         10                 And given the pervasiveness of

         11  Internet shopping where sales tax collection is not

         12  necessarily mandatory, the State storefront

         13  merchants, and by extension, the state and New York

         14  City itself, face untold levels of competition from

         15  merchants who contribute nothing to the individual

         16  and collective economies.

         17                 So why then would a merchant go to

         18  the expense, the trouble and the customer

         19  inconvenience, to improperly collect sales tax on

         20  items rendered exempt under the 2000 statute.

         21                 Chances are it's simple human error,

         22  compounded by complexities and ambiguities under the

         23  sales tax code that render certain items sales tax

         24  free, but others taxable.

         25                 We used to point to the big
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          2  marshmallow versus mini marshmallow discrepancy as

          3  the best example of the confusing nature of the

          4  State sales tax application. Big marshmallows, of

          5  course, were candy, so they were taxable. Mini

          6  marshmallows, a baking ingredient, were not subject

          7  to sales tax. The Governor mercifully directed the

          8  Tax Department to correct this anomaly but sadly

          9  there remains similar judgment calls between

         10  Cool-Aid, taxable, and Tang, tax-free. Iced tea in a

         11  paper container taxable, iced tea in a bottle, not

         12  taxable, and for dry good merchants, new challenges

         13  in dealing with the question of whether an item is

         14  the crib blanket or a receiving blanket.

         15                 We could at another time enjoy a

         16  lengthy discussion on the application of sales tax

         17  to items purchased with coupons, either manufactured

         18  discounts or store issued discounts.

         19                 The City Council September report

         20  still taxing underscores these inherent ambiguities

         21  by listing those dry good items wrongfully taxed in

         22  the most recent survey. Hosery, receiving blankets,

         23  batting gloves, golf gloves, shoe laces, and the

         24  like. It would be far easier if a single simple rule

         25  applied, if it can be worn on the body or out on the
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          2  street, it's tax exempt. But simple rules in the

          3  state and local sales tax codes do not peacefully

          4  co-exist.

          5                 We urge the City Council to similarly

          6  bear in mind that retailers throughout the state are

          7  dealing with this issue not only in New York City

          8  but in other localities as well.

          9                 Outside the City there are 17

         10  counties that have removed their local sales tax on

         11  clothing and footwear costing up to $110 per item.

         12  But even inside some of those counties, separate

         13  City governments have retained their option to apply

         14  their City sales tax to those items rendered tax

         15  free at the county level.

         16                 The State's remaining counties

         17  continue to apply their local sales tax rate to

         18  those same items.

         19                 As you know, State law allows local

         20  governments to opt in and out of participation in

         21  the tax free clothing and footwear program.

         22                 And, of course, local governments can

         23  also ask the state to authorize changes in their

         24  local sales tax rate, an option that many have

         25  already pursued in these days of precarious local
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          2  budget conditions.

          3                 All of these factors serve to pile

          4  additional complexities on an overly complex system.

          5  For that reason, mistakes will be made. But let me

          6  respectfully assure the City Council, the

          7  Administration, State law makers, and, most

          8  importantly, shoppers everywhere, that whenever a

          9  mistake is made, the retailer will adhere strictly

         10  to the fundamental rule that the customer is always

         11  right.

         12                 If an item is improperly taxed, the

         13  customer will be refunded the improperly charged

         14  amount.

         15                 Merchants have made significant

         16  strides in the last few years, configuring their

         17  systems to adhere as accurately as possible, to the

         18  state's seemingly ever-changing sales tax codes.

         19                 Nowhere is that better illustrated

         20  than the aforementioned still taxing report. Based

         21  on the staff review of what we believe to be a small

         22  sample of the thousands of individual merchants

         23  operating in the five boroughs, it concludes the

         24  disturbing number of stores continue to charge sales

         25  tax, but concedes that the percentage of stores
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          2  found most recently to be improperly collecting

          3  sales tax on specific items is at its lowest point

          4  for any of the four surveys, and is nearly one-half

          5  of a survey taken 18 months ago.

          6                 We consider this an excellent

          7  indicator of the retail industries collective desire

          8  to continue to improve and attend to the issue at

          9  hand.

         10                 Requiring merchants to post signs at

         11  points of sale would offer little, if any benefit,

         12  to the consumers Mr. Halperin explained, and

         13  shoppers can depend on retailers making every

         14  effort, every day to ensure that if an item should

         15  be tax-free, then it will be. The cavalcade of new

         16  products, staff turnover, information management

         17  challenges and the complexity of the law itself will

         18  always combine the cause from time to time errant

         19  application of the sales tax. In short, if you as a

         20  shopper have a question about the application of tax

         21  to an item, ask, the merchant wants your business.

         22                 Thank you, again, for the opportunity

         23  to appear this afternoon and explain our position.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         25                 MR. GOLDBERG: Mr. Chairman and
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          2  Counsel for the Committee, my name is Ed Goldberg.

          3  I'm vice president of Government Affairs for Macy's,

          4  and I'm also the Chairman of both the New York State

          5  Retail Council, I'm the Chairman of the New York

          6  Metropolitan Retail Association.

          7                 I would just like to make some very

          8  brief remarks as my colleagues have very well

          9  covered this subject.

         10                 First, I would like to say that the

         11  sales tax exemption, while somewhat new to New York

         12  have been around in most states for many, many

         13  years, federated itself does business in 36 states

         14  and there are not other states at this point in time

         15  that posts this kind of sign or requirement.

         16                 Secondly, retailers do not benefit

         17  financially by incorrectly charging sales tax, all

         18  tax, all tax, because of the way it's handled by

         19  computers remitted to the state.

         20                 Incorrect sales tax charges are not

         21  done intentionally. Any mistake made is quickly

         22  resolved in the customer's favor when brought to

         23  management's attention.

         24                 Signs are rarely effective, people do

         25  not read signs at the terminal checkouts or almost
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          2  any other place within the store, unfortunately.

          3                 Signs are very expensive to produce.

          4  Federated would have to produce in the City, 2,416

          5  signs in order to comply with this particular

          6  attempted regulation.

          7                 There is just a great deal of

          8  business regulation today, obviously, other signs

          9  that were mentioned before, such as return policy

         10  signs and things like that, already got the

         11  landscape, it would make it extremely difficult for

         12  us to try to do business the way we do today.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Good afternoon. My

         15  name is Pat Brodhagen, and I'm Vice President of

         16  Public Affairs for the Food Industry Alliance of New

         17  York State.

         18                 We're the Trade Association that

         19  represents grocery stores. Pretty much anybody that

         20  you can think of you would call a supermarket, from

         21  sort of an associated or a C-Town on the smaller

         22  end, up to a big Pathmark or a Food Emporium on the

         23  larger end of the scale, are our members, and I

         24  wanted to come today to underscore the fact that

         25  this particular bill's application is very, very
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          2  broad. You know when you read it's title and you see

          3  it says clothes, you think, oh, well, that's not us.

          4  Then you read the list and you see that it's really

          5  virtually every retailer sells something that's on

          6  that list.

          7                 So, it's hard to come up with the

          8  kind of retailer in the City that would be covered

          9  by this, so that it would be on the regulatory end

         10  certainly a very big job.

         11                 And I know I'm being redundant. Some

         12  of the same points, so I won't go into detail, these

         13  gentlemen's testimony has been excellent, but I just

         14  have to say again that incorrect sales tax charges

         15  are errors, plain and simple. And they tend to occur

         16  in those gray areas.

         17                 If your reason could get you to the

         18  right answer on sales tax ability, we won't make

         19  mistakes. But you can't reasonably get to that

         20  answer when you look at what some of the exceptions

         21  are. Things are that clothing, you wouldn't

         22  typically think of as clothing, things that are

         23  exempt food-wise that you wouldn't think of,

         24  idiosyncracies on the pharmacy side.

         25                 It is a confusing law, and we work
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          2  all the time to try to clarify for our own members.

          3                 And, again, the other point being

          4  that a store does not profit from that mistake. So

          5  there are opportunities for errors and a store

          6  doesn't profit from making them and they endeavor

          7  not to.

          8                 The other thing to remember is that

          9  in our situation, most of the people I represent do

         10  in fact have scanning, and, so, the tax ability is

         11  free programmed, and it is from headquarters, not at

         12  store level.

         13                 And, in fact, a cashier is not

         14  authorized to go in and override something that

         15  happens in the register. You do not want a cashier

         16  to be able to do that. And, so, if an error was, if

         17  something was questioned, that question would then

         18  be taken to the store manager who would resolve it

         19  for the customer, but that clarification wouldn't

         20  occur at the register.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I want to stop you

         22  for a second now.

         23                 You said that in a lot of these

         24  stores the coding is done at a national level; is

         25  that what you said?
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          2                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Wherever headquarters

          3  would be.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes, okay. Well,

          5  that's what I meant. In headquarters.

          6                 MS. BRODHAGEN: It's not done in a

          7  store.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So even when the

          9  sales price is done there and the new code -- says

         10  well, it was $59 now it's $39, it's done at

         11  headquarters?

         12                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: What do they ship

         14  the tags down here and put them on the clothes?

         15                 MS. BRODHAGEN: I'm not talking about

         16  clothes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Oh, I'm sorry on

         18  the food item.

         19                 MS. BRODHAGEN: The tags are either

         20  affixed at store, or the shelf pegs might be printed

         21  at the store level, but the file, the master file

         22  that feeds that computer comes from headquarters.

         23  That change comes down in price changes that are fed

         24  in from headquarters.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So it's in the
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          2  computer, and therefore the cash register that it

          3  reads the bar codes and it distinguishes --

          4                 MS. BRODHAGEN: And it comes up

          5  taxable or non-taxable.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- The bar code is

          7  changed.

          8                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Right. So that

          9  decision is made by a person who has that

         10  responsibility at headquarters. So, if something is

         11  incorrectly flagged as taxable, then once

         12  headquarters can verify that, then they go in and

         13  they flag it non-taxable, and it's corrected. So

         14  it's certainly a correctable error, but that's where

         15  that occurs. It doesn't occur at this cash register.

         16                 The store manager would certainly

         17  refund, as Ted explained, the charge if it wasn't

         18  accurately made. That would happen right then and

         19  there on the spot.

         20                 But the cashier doesn't have that

         21  authority to do that.

         22                 The other thing that Ted pointed out

         23  is that even though there is no state sales tax on

         24  all of these items, or New York City, there are lots

         25  of jurisdictions who still charge their portion, and
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          2  there's four jurisdictions at least within

          3  Westchester County that do as well. So that for a

          4  multi-county operator, there is that extra level of

          5  sorting all of this out to be sure that what they're

          6  doing is correct within each jurisdiction that they

          7  operate.

          8                 So, what we would certainly support

          9  is increased education and everything that's been

         10  said about more education, as a trade association,

         11  we can and do try to educate our members.

         12                 We've put together booklets in

         13  conjunction with the State Health -- the State

         14  Taxation Department, to get to our members that we

         15  refer to when we get questions about an item. And we

         16  can work on that again, and would do that with the

         17  City, with the Council, with the State, and any

         18  specific era that's found and it seems to be a

         19  certain category let's say, I mean we're a good way

         20  to reach retailers all at once and be sure that it

         21  gets corrected.

         22                 The problem with posting, they've all

         23  been mentioned, but especially in a supermarket,

         24  they're really isn't any place to post, we're just

         25  not set up that way, to post these things at the
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          2  register, and would favor in any case a solution to

          3  this problem that's not burdensome or punitive,

          4  because as I said, this is never intentional. These

          5  are errors, human errors, and we're all on the side

          6  of correcting them, but we would not want to see a

          7  punitive approach because we wouldn't think that was

          8  fair.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, thank you all

         11  for your testimony.

         12                 Now, the bill was, first of all, I

         13  think drafted not so much -- I mean, I think it was

         14  drafted with the awareness that the store presumably

         15  is not benefitting from this, but it's more of a

         16  consumer protection piece. But in listening to your

         17  testimony, I'm not sure I understand -- it would

         18  seem to me fairly easy for a retailer to in fact

         19  charge tax, but not pay it, and you all are saying

         20  that that's not possible to do?

         21                 In other words, it's somehow recorded

         22  instantly that they charge, and you have a way to

         23  investigate that?

         24                 MR. GOLDBERG: Mr. Chairman, to

         25  elaborate on that, we are also a central controlled
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          2  organization out of Duluth, Georgia, all of our

          3  terminal proceedings are done through that

          4  particular system. And, of course, through the magic

          5  of computers today it's obviously very

          6  instantaneous, almost instantaneous.

          7                 The sales tax is coded into the bar

          8  code so that at any given time when that merchandise

          9  is cashiered or rung up, it automatically lists on

         10  the tax line, and it's that tax line that our people

         11  take and remit to the State. So, there's never a

         12  question in terms of searching for it, that line

         13  totals out every day and is remitted to the state.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Yes. And perhaps

         15  you're not, any of you on this particular panel, are

         16  not the best to answer it, because I think I'm

         17  thinking more about the small retailers, the mom and

         18  pop shops that I think where you can find this

         19  problem is probably more prevalent.

         20                 MR. POTRIKUS: The small retailers

         21  whom we represent have, I think every single one of

         22  them I would say confidently has a healthy respect

         23  for state and local taxing authorities and they

         24  certainly play --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: For the enforcement
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          2  element of it; is that what you mean?

          3                 MR. POTRIKUS: Indeed. The auditing

          4  elements. Well, every element of it, because the

          5  last thing that they want is to sit down with an

          6  audit and go through and find out that for two or

          7  three years they have not been charging sales tax on

          8  an item that they should have been charging tax on,

          9  because ultimately the merchant would be liable for

         10  making up for that era as well, if they didn't apply

         11  it where it should be done.

         12                 So, by and large, I think when

         13  retailers do receive those notices they put it in.

         14                 Again, I go back to the point that I

         15  made small merchants have the interesting

         16  competition with the Internet or with their larger

         17  colleagues in the industry, that if they weren't

         18  charging sales tax I think they'd be happier but

         19  they do have to do it, and they understand that

         20  that's their obligation to collect and remit that

         21  same tax.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Do you experience

         23  your members, any of the organizations that all of

         24  you represent, asking you questions about, as far as

         25  tax? I mean, is this a common discussion of how do
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          2  we know what it is? Or does this not come up when

          3  you're talking to retailers.

          4                 I mean, you say you're doing a public

          5  -- somebody said that, I think it's a general

          6  thought of all four of you, I mean you're doing that

          7  but do your members tell you that this is a problem

          8  for them?

          9                 MR. POTRIKUS: When it was first

         10  implemented, when the law first came to being and we

         11  had the tax-free weeks, for example, I think that

         12  there were some concerns as to how it's done.

         13  Whenever there was a change in the sales tax law,

         14  when we had the three, tax-free periods this year in

         15  certain parts of Manhattan, I mean there were all

         16  kinds of questions about, well, if I don't have a

         17  store, or if I have a store there and I ship it in,

         18  how is the treatment handled. So there are I think

         19  always sales tax questions. You know we spend a lot

         20  of time on the phone with the Tax Department, with

         21  our colleagues, and the other associations, to make

         22  sure that we're getting the answer correct to pass

         23  along.

         24                 But the short answer to your question

         25  is, yes, they do spend a great deal of time paying
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          2  attention to what is and isn't and how it should be

          3  handled and how the certain items are taken care of.

          4                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Yes, I mean I'll give

          5  the same answer. We do get questions. The basic

          6  things as I said that you can reason your way to,

          7  you know, everybody understands, but on the food

          8  side, I think prepared foods are one of the tricky

          9  areas. Just to give you an example, it has to do

         10  with whether food is heated or unheated. Here's just

         11  a couple of examples, a quarter pound of ham put

         12  into a sandwich is taxable. Now, that's a sandwich.

         13  The same quarter pound of ham sold by bulk weight is

         14  not taxable. So, we could read through all kinds of

         15  these. Well, even on thread, let's see if I'm right

         16  on this, if thread is used on a taxable item, then

         17  the thread is taxable. If it's used on a non-taxable

         18  item, then the thread is not taxable.

         19                 So, you know, the fact that I even

         20  know some of these is amazing.

         21                 So, a lot of retailers, maybe they

         22  know them, maybe they forget, yes, we are questioned

         23  and we endeavor to answer them.

         24                 We've also sought, let me just throw

         25  in, that we've tried to work with the State Tax
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          2  Department on sales tax simplification, so far

          3  really without success. Periodically that comes up

          4  as an issue that we'd like to work on, it would be

          5  better for us, it would be better for consumers. But

          6  we've not been successful in moving that issue.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you all very

          8  much.

          9                 Charles Bell, who is here

         10  representing the Consumers Union.

         11                 Mr. Bell, if you would introduce

         12  yourself.

         13                 MR. BELL: Hi. I'm Charles Bell. I'm

         14  the Programs Director for Consumers Union. We're a

         15  national consumer organization based in Yonkers, New

         16  York, and we're the non-profit publisher of Consumer

         17  Reports Magazine.

         18                 And I don't have a prepared statement

         19  today, but I did want -- I am submitting a letter

         20  for the record, and basically the points of our

         21  participation is that we've discussed the proposed

         22  law with a number of consumers and social service

         23  organizations, and basically I wanted to impress

         24  upon Council members and the Committee that the

         25  Committee is concerned about this problem, and this
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          2  letter is from us, but also was signed by Citizen

          3  Action of New York, Hunger Action Network of New

          4  York State, NYPIRG, which is New York Public

          5  Interest Research Group, and two staff members from

          6  the Brooklynwide Interagency Council of the Aging,

          7  as well as Rhoda Karpatkin, the former President of

          8  Consumers Union, and basically we're saying we're in

          9  support of legislation to require retailers to post

         10  a prominent list of tax exempt clothing and footwear

         11  items, and we also urge the Council to ensure that

         12  this law is fully implemented and vigorously

         13  enforced.

         14                 You know, I recognized from having

         15  listened to the testimony today that this is a

         16  complex issue. We have not done a lot of analysis of

         17  what type of implementation would be most effective.

         18  I am impressed by Mr. Eiler's analysis that perhaps

         19  a simpler type of signage might actually be more

         20  effective, by just indicating that items under $110

         21  are tax exempt, clothing and footwear items, and

         22  that for a more detailed list, you know, you can

         23  consult the retailer.

         24                 I think also some type of public

         25  education initiatives could be very effective, both

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  targeted at the retailers and at consumers. Perhaps

          3  having an illustrated directory of the items that

          4  are exempt, they could be publicized, perhaps

          5  publicized by the Mayor and other City officials, in

          6  connection with tourism campaigns. I note that the

          7  State seems to be getting a fair amount of revenue

          8  from consumers, perhaps some part of that ill-gotten

          9  gains could be put into the use of public education

         10  on these issues.

         11                 You know, the point was made by these

         12  retailers, which I think is a fair one, is that the

         13  stores do not generally profit from these mistakes,

         14  and probably also it's not realistic to think that

         15  the error rate will ever get totally to zero.

         16                 At the same time, the consumer is

         17  basically out-of-pocket for this, and I moved here

         18  12 years ago from the State of Oregon, which doesn't

         19  have sales tax whatsoever, and I was pretty shocked

         20  at the time at how high the rate of sales tax is in

         21  New York State.

         22                 And for people who have low and

         23  moderate incomes, or seniors, or people with

         24  disabilities living on fixed incomes, at the margin

         25  this amount of money really does matter.
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          2                 Now, when we see this in every area

          3  of the economy, whether it's bank fees or parking

          4  tickets or what have you, that's the margin

          5  affordability of goods and services is very

          6  important.

          7                 And, so, I think that we need to push

          8  ahead, and I think that the point of our letter is

          9  really to urge you on. And I'm sure we'll get a

         10  number of other organizations that will come on

         11  board, because basically no one would argue that the

         12  consumer should be paying taxes that they don't owe,

         13  and, so, we really are glad that you're grappling

         14  with this problem, we could do more on our end

         15  perhaps to think about some types of, you know, how

         16  to make implementation more effective, but we think

         17  working with the Department of Consumer Affairs and

         18  the retailers, we really would like to see some type

         19  of major initiative that would get the word out to

         20  consumers and also get the word out to people,

         21  employees of these stores. Even perhaps posting the

         22  list of items in the employees' lounge might be a

         23  good idea.

         24                 We were not, I was not aware that the

         25  law was talking about posting at every point of

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  sale. I'm not sure that's feasible, but I think, you

          3  know, at least somewhere in the store, particularly

          4  for stores that have been three-time offenders, you

          5  know have been cited multiple times, is clearly

          6  something that needs to be done to make sure that

          7  employees are aware of this and that consumers can

          8  get the information.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, thank you

         10  very much. Perhaps we're going to have more hearings

         11  on this so we can revisit this. But also the

         12  stickers, it seems to me, that are on almost every

         13  item in the store, might be able to be identified as

         14  taxable/untaxable, the prices certainly in the food

         15  arena, although I understand some of this comes from

         16  headquarters.

         17                 I'm struck by the fact that in four

         18  various investigations, or when they went out

         19  shopping so-to-speak, we're consistently coming up

         20  with a number of about a third of the stores are

         21  improperly, or the items that were bought, but

         22  that's a lot of money.

         23                 You know, you can't dismiss that. I

         24  do think that you're right about people where at the

         25  margins that does add up. It adds up in a lot of
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          2  people's pockets, and if it didn't add up, we

          3  wouldn't be offering tax-free days in certain

          4  neighborhoods. And given what we're all in the

          5  process of, almost everybody is going to pay more

          6  taxes.

          7                 I know part of the discussion that my

          8  delegation was having today, that there was no group

          9  left unspared, particularly the seniors, even though

         10  they have, in the realist we were looking for

         11  entirely too long today at how you could preempt the

         12  seniors and other people who typically have circuit

         13  breakers in the increase in various real estate

         14  taxes. But that's not possible, given what we're

         15  having to do, raising the real estate rates, taxes,

         16  across the board. All the things that the Mayor is

         17  proposing, as well as the cuts to services so people

         18  are going to have to go out and purchase those

         19  services independently. So, if there's a way we can

         20  save them some money, I'm certainly aware that the

         21  majority of this is not that it does not benefit the

         22  store, but it certainly isn't benefitting the

         23  consumers.

         24                 So, I appreciate your advocacy and

         25  the organizations that you've come and represented
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          2  today that want to find a resolution. I'm not sure

          3  that the bill as it's written is the answer to the

          4  question, but I do think that the question was

          5  provocative enough for me to sign onto the bill to

          6  begin the process of looking at what the issue is,

          7  how big is the issue, and what is the best way to

          8  address it. So, I appreciate your coming today.

          9                 MR. BELL: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Unless there's any

         11  other comment, we will, obviously, as I said before,

         12  revisit this. I want to thank everybody for coming,

         13  and, again, this is a rather difficult and active

         14  time for the Council. So, I want to make sure that

         15  the record understands that today it's not for lack

         16  of enthusiasm about this issue, it's that most of my

         17  colleagues are trying to explain to their

         18  constituents exactly what's happening.

         19                 We, for instance, had a big

         20  discussion in the Manhattan Delegation, just before

         21  I came upstairs, that with all due respect the media

         22  isn't here, but the media is giving out a lot of

         23  wrong information. So, if you read in the Daily News

         24  today, according to them 30 senior centers are going

         25  to close. Well, they're scheduled to be closed in
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          2  the next fiscal year starting July 1st, not right

          3  now, not next week. But you can't really tell that

          4  to a senior who has read in the Daily News that

          5  their center is threatening to be closed. And

          6  there's a lot of misinformation about all this

          7  budget. So, I know that a lot of my colleagues are

          8  trying to -- you know, you try to tell somebody, no,

          9  that's not the case, "but I saw it in the

         10  newspaper." Well, I see my colleague, Mr. Halperin,

         11  in government laughing because he knows exactly what

         12  I'm talking about.

         13                 So, it is sort of distressing. I know

         14  a lot of my colleagues are trying to respond to the

         15  concerns that the constituents have, perhaps the

         16  Administration could be helpful in making sure

         17  people understand their senior centers are not

         18  scheduled to be closed tomorrow.

         19                 Thank you very much. This hearing is

         20  adjourned. Thank you.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 2:36 p.m.)
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